## Gender, Behavior, and Women's Economic Empowerment

## **Alessandra Cassar and Elizabeth Katz**

**University of San Francisco** 

Center for Global Development 2055 L Street NW Fifth Floor Washington DC 20036 202-416-4000 www.cgdev.org

This work is made available under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 license. Alessandra Cassar and Elizabeth Katz. 2016. "Gender, Behavior, and Women's Economic Empowerment" CGD Background Paper. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. http://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/gender-behavior-womens-economic-empowerment.pdf

The Center for Global Development is grateful for contributions from the United Nations Foundation and the ExxonMobil Foundation in support of this work.



# CGD Background Paper November 2016

## Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Behavioral Differences Between Men and Women: Theories and Evidence	2
Origins: Evolutionary Psychology and Biosocial Theory	2
Experimental Evidence of Gender Differences in Behavior	4
3. Behavioral Design and Women's Economic Empowerment: What Do We Know?	11
Networking, Cooperation and Role Modeling	11
Preferences, Gender Targeting, and Bargaining Power	14
Gender, Risk, and Agricultural Insurance	17
Changing Behavior with Empowerment Interventions	
4. Conclusions and Recommendations	21
References	24

## 1. Introduction

While the processes of economic development and poverty alleviation can reduce some of the inequalities between men and women that arise when families and communities face extreme resource constraints, growth alone is not enough to guarantee women equal access to health, education, earning opportunities, rights and political participation (Duflo 2012). For this reason, a strong case can be made for policies and programs that seek to address gender-specific constraints to economic empowerment. Many of these constraints are external in nature, for example educational opportunities, access to financial services, and asset ownership. In addition, gender differences in internal constraints—psychological and behavioral preferences rooted in social evolution and cultural norms—may play an important role in shaping the choices that women make with respect to labor market participation, entrepreneurship, technology adoption, and expenditure and consumption patterns. This paper explores the evidence on gender differences in behavior and how program design can best utilize our growing knowledge about the nature of these differences to inform policy going forward.

One of the most exciting recent intellectual trends in the field of development economics is the incorporation of important insights from behavioral science into the understanding of economic decision-making. Indeed, the World Bank's 2015 *World Development Report*, entitled "Mind, Society, and Behavior," was devoted to exploring this paradigm, and how it can be applied in diverse policy areas such as early childhood development, household finance, and health. In the coming years, as the international development community moves away from classical assumptions about rationality and learns more about the complexities of cognition and identity, the influence of culture, and the biases and seemingly less than rational preferences characterizing human choices, we are sure to see increasing numbers of policies and programs being guided by behavioral design principles.

While this introduction of behavioral principles into the design of development policy is in many ways an extremely welcome evolution, little attention has been paid thus far to how gender equality might be served by behavioral insights. Insofar as attitudes and beliefs regarding fundamental behaviors such as competition, risk-taking, aspirations, trust and solidarity act as internal constraints to economic empowerment, and insofar as these behaviors are systematically different between men and women, it is important to harness the growing body of knowledge to inform gender-targeted policies and programs. Whatever the origins of these gender differences are, as Fletschner et al. (2010:1476) argue,

If women are systematically less prone to take risks or to compete we would expect that, compared to men of equivalent socioeconomic conditions, they will be more likely to opt out of a wide range of economic opportunities that are expected to yield higher returns but require them to be entrepreneurial, specialize in one or two sectors, take out loans, make relatively large investments of capital, and become more vulnerable to changes in prices or climatic conditions. At an aggregate level, their choices may have a multiplier effect. If a sufficiently large number of women choose not to take up these opportunities, other women might have to follow in settings where the social penalty for deviating from the norm is high. How might the insights of behavioral economics be utilized to economically empower women? In a developed country context, an important recent contribution (**Bohnet** 2016) **makes the** *case that there are many low-cost interventions* in the work environment that can alter the "choice architecture" in favor of gender equity. For example, concealing the identity of job applicants through blind auditions or removing names from resumes can have a significant impact on hiring decisions. In low and middle income countries, a small but growing body of evidence is discerning when and under what conditions behavioral "nudges" can alter the impact of programs intended to economically benefit women.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 starts with an overview of the scientific theories of the origins of gender differences and reviews the behavioral economics literature in two key areas of relevance to economic decision-making: risk and competition. While much of this work is based on experimental research with high-income country populations, there is some cross-cultural work that suggests relevant variation in gendered economic behaviors across societies of different income levels and indicators of gender equity. Section 3 examines the evidence on the impact of program interventions specifically designed to address behavioral barriers to women's economic empowerment. Because this is an emerging area of research and policy, there are still a relatively limited number of published studies, but we are already learning a good deal about the effects of peer support, role modeling, gendertargeted transfers, and risk-mitigation schemes in encouraging positive outcomes for women. Section 4 looks at how some women's empowerment programs have influenced the behaviors-specifically, competition, deception and trust-of female beneficiaries. The paper concludes by drawing out the main lessons of the use of behavioral design to promote women's economic empowerment in developing countries, and outlining an agenda for future research and policy experimentation.

## 2. Behavioral Differences Between Men and Women: Theories and Evidence

#### **Origins: Evolutionary Psychology and Biosocial Theory**

Over the past several decades, economists have been increasingly interested in documenting possible differences between women's and men's behavior in areas likely to have economic consequences, such as altruism, cooperation, risk aversion, trust, and the desire to compete., leaving to other scientists, especially psychologists and anthropologists, the task of explaining the origins of such differences (in the few areas in which they have been found). After a long period of debating the roles of nature versus nurture, recent anthropological and psychological theories are advancing models that put an equally important emphasis on both the biological and sociocultural aspects whose interplay could explain how differences in gender behavior came about and continue to adapt and change.

A stronger emphasis on the process of evolutionary adaptation is advanced by evolutionary psychologists who argue that those behaviors and traits found universally in all cultures (like the ability to infer others' emotions or a preferential treatment of kin) are the result of psychological adaptations that evolved to solve persistent problems in human ancestral environments, i.e. traits that can be seen as the functional products of natural selection or sexual selection. According to this theory, divergences between the minds of the two sexes should be only expected to be found in those domains important for sexual reproduction, where differential pressures related to mating and reproduction would have left a lasting impression on the minds of males and females (Campbell 2002). Human reproduction requires different strategies, depending on whether the female or the male needs to invest more in her/his offspring. Following Trivers' theory of parental investment, the sex making the greater parental investment would become a resource for which members of the other sex compete (Browne, 2006). Among humans, males have to invest less in providing for an infant, therefore they can increase their reproductive success by having numerous partners and increasing the number of offspring. Quite differently, females cannot increase their reproductive success in the same way, because they need to invest more in their children through, at the very least, gestation and lactation.

This fundamental difference would have extensive psychological implications. With numerous males following the same multiple mating strategy, it follows that males would need to compete among themselves for the most desirable females. This competition could take many forms, from contests of physical power to acquiring status and amassing resources highly valued by females. Because of higher variance in male reproductive success than among females, the risks and rewards of the mating game are higher for males than for females. Thus, evolutionary theory predicts that males, to be successful, should exhibit greater tolerance for risk, and a behavior geared towards acquisition of dominance and status (Browne 2006). More recently, a less passive interpretation of female role in the mating game see females not simply as inert object of male competition, but active actors competing for the wellbeing of their offspring and for best suitable mates, depending on their genetic endowment, abilities and anticipated willingness to invest in them and their offspring (Hrdy 1981, 1999; Cassar et al. 2016). For women, reproductive success emphasizes quality over quantity, while risk-taking behavior conveys not only lesser reproductive rewards but also greater cost to reproductive success, as shown by the finding that the life prospects of a child in primitive societies were more impaired by loss of its mother than of its father (Campbell 1999). To the extent that certain behavioral traits are genetically influenced, successful mating and reproductive behaviors would tend to be passed down from one generation to the next and increase in number, while less successful ones would decline.

A contrasting view of the origins of gendered behavior comes from biosocial theory (Wood and Eagly 2012). While still recognizing the underlying biological differences between men and women, expressed in women's reproductive activities and men's greater strength and size, such differences are considered to be only "distal" causes of male and female behavior, while social processes are taken to be more proximal. According to this model, in conjunction with the need to thrive and adjust to local socioeconomic and ecological environments, early human societies adopted a division of labor in which women specialized in activities compatible with infant caretaking (such as gathering) while men specialized in activities requiring greater physical strength, uninterrupted periods of time, and long-distance travel away from home (such as

hunting). This division of labor, which was itself transformed by the advent of settled agriculture into further differentiated gender activities, is then regarded as the basis for the social construction of gender: to ensure that children are well equipped to successfully fulfill adult roles, societies would socialize the young, instilling, expecting, punishing and rewarding behaviors consistent with the cultural beliefs about the attributes of the sexes (ibid.) At the most general level, these cultural beliefs about masculine and feminine personality traits can be subsumed under two broad categories: communion, involving warmth and concern for others, and agency, involving assertiveness and competitiveness. As individuals internalize these beliefs, "culture gets inside the person" and creates observable sex differences in behavior (ibid.).

Regardless of the ultimate origins, these deeply rooted behavioral differences are likely to have important economic implications. If men, whether because of genetically transmitted traits or because of gender role socialization, strive to achieving high status by entering competitive environments, working longer hours and undertaking risks necessary to achieve top positions and greater income, while women, independently on the reasons, strive to obtain the best possible outcomes for their children's wellbeing, differences in occupational interests and distributions are likely to emerge (Browne 2006). In developed countries, such differences have the potential to contribute to the glass ceiling and the gender pay gap. In developing countries, where poverty and social norms breed even worse unequal treatments of girls and women, the consequences are likely to be even more dire. Development programs, explicitly those targeting women's empowerment, need to incorporate in their design the local gendered social norms and sex differences in preferences for risk-taking, competitiveness, confidence, concern for social positioning, resource allocation and social outcomes.

#### **Experimental Evidence of Gender Differences in Behavior**

In economics, experimentalists have long been focusing on sex difference in behavior and have found that for most domains such difference don't exist, while for others, like risk aversion and the desire to compete, they do (see extensive surveys in Croson and Gneezy (2009) and Niederle (forthcoming)).<sup>1</sup> In the following we put a particular emphasis on the lab and lab-in-the-field results important for designing development policies.

#### **Attitudes Toward Risk**

Risk tolerance involves choosing options that have the potential to bring great benefits, but could also lead to negative consequences. In economic terms, risk tolerance implies preferring opportunities that offer higher expected returns but expose individual to greater uninsured risk to more secure but less profitable economic alternatives (Dercon 2006). Risk taking can be adaptive, when the benefits of choosing some activity are more likely to occur than the potential hazards, or maladaptive, the opposite. The successful adaptation by individuals to their environment then depends by systematically pursuing certain risks while avoiding others.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As in many fields, publication bias may influence the body of accumulating knowledge since experiments with positive findings are more likely to be published (and submitted to seek publication) than those which cannot reject the null hypothesis of lack of gender differences.

Avoiding all risks is not just impossible, it is also maladaptive, as individuals unwilling to invest in economic activities that naturally involve the possibility of losses would forgo the prospect of great gains. If certain risks are then adaptive, finding a systematic gender difference in preference would imply a greater or lesser degrees of environmental adaptation in women versus men (Byrnes et al.1999). If there were systematic differences in men and women's risk preferences, with women showing lower tolerance, we would expect to find more resistance among women to embrace programs that produce higher but more variable returns, or require the adoption of new technologies with better but uncertain outcomes (Liu 2008), or take out loans to meet credit needs (Boucher et al. 2008, Fletschner et al. 2010; Dercon 2006). If women had higher risk aversion than men, they would forgo opportunities that offer higher expected returns but more variability in outcome and would prefer less profitable but more predictable outcomes.

Risk preferences in the laboratory and in lab in the field experiments can be elicited through different methods. The most common ones are based on a protocol that requires subjects to choose between a pair of lotteries in which one is a safe (or less risky) option while the other offers higher but riskier (higher variance) payoffs. Subjects have then to make several of these choices, structured so that the crossover point from the low-risk lottery to the high-risk lottery can be used to infer the degree of risk aversion. Holt and Laury (2002) describes this methodology and analyses treatments that differ in terms of payoff amounts and hypothetical vs. real incentives. Their findings show that even with hypothetical payoffs the vast majority of subjects exhibit risk aversion at all level of payoffs while, with real stakes, risk aversion increases significantly when payoffs increase. Laboratory research, analyzing the behavior of subjects in advanced industrialized countries, has found women to be more risk averse than men in the vast majority of environments and tasks (e.g., Eckel and Grossman 2008a, 2008b). A comprehensive meta-analysis of the psychological literature provides gender comparison for 322 effects size, coded separately for different tasks (hypothetical choices non-incentivized, e.g. choices among hypothetical gambles; self reported behaviour, e.g. drug use or unprotected sex in the previous 12 months; observed behaviour, e.g. turning left in front of traffic), for different content within each task and for participants' age (Byrnes et al. 1999). The results show that for the majority of the effects (60percent) the idea of greater risk taking on the part of males is supported. For nearly half of the effects (48percent) men were at least 20 per cent more prone to take risks (conventional cutoff point for small effects). It is important to notice, though, that a sizable minority (40percent) were either negative or close to zero. Gender differences varied greatly according to context and age level, and differences between observed risk behaviors were larger than the ones reported in hypothetical choices.

In the experimental literature, Charness and Gneezy (2012) provides an analysis of experimental data from 15 sets of experiments all using the same framework ("investment game") but differently implemented with respect to countries, instructions, researchers, payoffs, subject pools, etc. In this investment game the subject receives a certain amount of money and is asked to choose how much of it he wants to invest in a risky option and how much to keep. The amount invested yields a dividend with a known probability or is lost. The money not invested can be kept by the subject as sure payment. Despite all the differences between the studies, the authors report that men choose to invest more in the risky project than women, who appear to be more financially risk averse than men.

Evidence on gender differences in risk preferences from developing countries is more limited. Recent lab-in the fields studies, while confirming overall similar patterns, show additional evidence of the importance of cultural factors and that in certain rural and traditional societies there are no systematic different risk preferences between women and men. In line with the main laboratory studies in developed countries is Fletschner et al. (2010)'s analysis of the behaviour of husband and wives in 500 couples in rural central Vietnam. They use three hypothetical risk scenarios involving two options with the same expected payoffs (option 1 represented the certain outcome, option 2 always involved taking a risk). The risk scenarios (all hypothetical in nature) elicited individual willingness to take risks in the gains domain, under high stakes, and in the loss domain. Regardless of the frame (which indeed produced different results), women were in all three cases significantly more risk averse then men. Instead of using hypothetical payoffs, Sandrik (2011) examines risk attitudes amongst low-income peasants in the rural highlands of Peru using a risk game with real monetary rewards, finding that women are significantly more risk averse than men.

Several recent studies suggest that the gender gap in risk-taking behavior is highly sensitive to cultural context. For example, Pondorfer et al. (2014) analyses gender differences in risk preferences and gender stereotypes in two traditional island societies which differ in the social status of women: the patrilineal Palawan in the Philippines and the matrilineal Teop in Papua New Guinea. The experiment uses a simple gamble choice task plus an activity in which each subject is asked to predict the gamble choice of another female and male subject from the same society. Their findings show no significant differences in actual risk preferences between men and women of the same society. Nevertheless, they find that men from the patrilineal society overestimate women's actual risk aversion and men from the matrilineal society underestimate women's actual risk aversion, indicating that these biases are culture-specific. These results support the findings of earlier work by Gneezy et al. (2009), which doesn't observe gender differences in risk preferences among the patriarchal Maasai in Tanzania and the matrilineal Khasi in India, and Gong and Yang (2012), which finds that women are more risk averse than men in patriarchal and matrilineal societies in China but the gender gap is smaller in the latter one.

Further exploring the role of social context, Cardenas et al. (2012) analyses gender differences in preferences for competition and risk among children aged 9-12 in other two very different societies in terms of gender equality, Colombia and Sweden. They employ four types of tasks (running, skipping rope, math and word search) in order to vary the gender stereotype attached to it. Their results show that boy in both countries are more risk taking than girls, but in Sweden there is a smaller gender gap.

#### **Competitive Behaviors**

As with risk aversion, individuals less likely to choose competitive environments might selfselect in activities that have lower but more predictable returns. If these individuals were disproportionally women, their lower preferences for entering competitions might generate important differences in occupational distribution where top status and income earning positions are fewer and wanted by many. This effect can have especially dire consequences for women in rural economies, where development programs strive towards market development. For example, Fletschner et al. (2010) argues that moving up the supply chain towards more market oriented products increases the level of competitiveness at every level (input market, production and sales), so policies that offer higher prospects but that require higher competition might have different effects by gender, with some (most likely the majority of those to whom the intervention has been targeted) not willing to participate.

While in most of the papers we want to highlight the data come from incentivized experiments, it is interesting to start with the findings of a survey conducted on 25,000 individuals from 36 (mostly developed) countries, (Bönte 2015). The survey contained questions in which respondents were asked to assess their (self-reported) preference to enter competitive situations, willingness to take on risk, self-efficacy and confidence in general. The empirical results show that gender differences are statistically significant and substantial in size in almost all countries with women having, on average, a substantially lower self-reported preference to enter competitive situations than men. Importantly, gender differences vary considerably across countries. Such lower competitive preferences didn't vanish after including a standard set of controls that may affect gender differences. Interestingly, preferences don't seem to be affected by age.

Moving to incentivized laboratory methods, an initial thread of literature, exemplified by Gneezy et al. (2004), analyses the hypothesis that men perform better than women under competitive environments, even when they perform equally well under non-competitive environments. In their study, subjects are divided in groups of three men and three women and asked to complete mazes within a certain time limit. In one treatment, subjects are compensated on a piece-rate scheme, in which subjects are paid a certain amount per completed maze. In another treatment, subjects are compensated on a tournament scheme, in which they are paid six times as much per completed maze, but only if they completed the most mazes out of their group of six. The authors of the study report that while men and women performed equally well under the piece-rate treatment, men significantly outperformed women in the tournament treatment.

The hypothesis that women do not like to compete as much as men is the focus of a second thread of experimental literature. In the seminal experiment by Niederle and Vesterlund (2007) men and women are given a series of computational tasks (adding numbers) under two different payment conditions: lower but non-competitive (piece-rate scheme) or higher but competitive (tournament scheme). Before a third similar task, subjects are then asked which condition they would prefer. Depending on the choice (piece-rate vs. tournament), the researcher can infer a subject's preference for competition (i.e. choosing the tournament scheme). Niederle and Vesterlund (2007) reports that while performance (number of correct answers) is equally good between men and women, when offered the choice to be paid based on a non-competitive, piece-rate payment scheme or on a tournament (competitive) payment scheme, men chose the tournament in significant higher numbers than women, indicating that men have a higher level of competitive inclination than women. This finding has been replicated in numerous subsequent studies in western developed countries, and alternative possible explanations such as confidence, beliefs, and risk aversion have been considered (see survey in Niederle and Vesterlund 2011). Such observed behavioral differences are important because they suggest a plausible alternate hypothesis to the more traditional explanations for gender differences in labor market outcomes based on human capital accumulation (Altonii and Blank 1999) and

discrimination (Goldin 2000): women simply do not like to select into competitive environments as much as men do.

While the Niederle and Vesterlund results have been reliably replicated, especially in university laboratories, the gender gap in competitive inclination can be greatly reduced or even eliminated when the experimental design is altered in important domains. Changes to the tournament rules (Niederle et al. 2008, Healy and Pate 2011), to the experimental task (Shurchkov 2012), or to the subject population (the main focus of the review below) have been able to reduce or eliminate gender differences in competitive inclination.

As with the other behavioral differences between men and women, even if the consequences might not change, it may be important for policy design to know whether such difference in competitive inclinations originate in nature or nurture. The answer is that the gender gap in competition seems to be both of biological and cultural nature. On the biological side, female competitiveness over cash has been shown to vary with hormone levels (Wozniak et al. 2014; Bateup et al. 2002), and post-menopausal women are found to be more competitive than younger women (Flory et al. 2012). At the same time, several studies indicate that the reported gender differences in competitive behavior are not universal, but highly dependent on the culture, institutions, and context, as well as age, experimental task, and tournament rules. Booth and Nolen (2012), for example, compared both risk-taking and competitive behaviors among girls attending single sex and co-educational schools in Britain. The subjects, grouped into same gender groups and mixed gender groups, had to solve mazes (instead of mathematical additions) and, after having tried both piece-rate and tournament payments, and chose which payment system they preferred. The results show that in coed schools girls are 71percent less likely to enter the tournament than boys while girls from single-sex schools are as likely as coed boys to choose competitive behavior. Furthermore, girls in same gender experimental peer-groups choose to enter the tournament more than girls in mixed gender experimental peer-groups.

In a developing country context, Fletschner et al. (2010) analyses a simplified version of the original game with 500 married couples in rural central Vietnam. The results show that despite an identical performance in the digit recall task, 49 percent of men chose to compete vs. only 37 percent of the women, a difference that stayed significant (yet smaller) after controlling for many factors. Furthermore, analysing data by ability (i.e. number of correct answers) a substantial proportion of men who were unlikely to succeed (poor performance) choose competitive situations over more secure but lower paying opportunities while a large proportion of women who were likely to succeed in competitive situation choose to forgo higher returns for guaranteed remuneration.

Among the first to establish that the gender gap in competitive inclination is not universal across all cultures is Gneezy et al. (2009). In their experiment, subjects from the patrilineal Maasai in Tanzania and matrilineal Khasi in India (where men take on a large role in childcare) are matched in pairs (without knowing the identity of the partner) to participate in a bucket toss game and to make the decision about how they want to be paid. Their results show that men are more competitively inclined than women among the Maasai, whereas for the Kashi the gender gap in competitive inclination is reversed. In addition, the study shows that the proportion of males in a group is negatively related to the probability of choosing to compete and no significant correlation was found between the performance in the task and the decision to

compete. Interestingly, there were no gender differences in risk preferences in either group (only between groups).

Cardenas et al. (2012) analyses gender differences in preferences for competition and risk among children aged 9-12 in Colombia and Sweden, two very different societies in terms of gender equality. They employ four types of tasks (running, skipping rope, math and word search) in order to vary the gender stereotype attached to it. Surprisingly, their results show that boys and girls are equally competitive in all tasks and all measures in Colombia, a country in which women are believed to be less empowered than in Sweden. In Sweden, instead, the results in Sweden are mixed, with girls being more competitive than boys in some tasks but not in others are boys overall more likely to choose to compete than girls.

Examining the relationship between culture and biology, Flory et al. (2016) investigate preferences for competition with a subject pool of women and men between the ages of 12 and 90 in two cultures in rural Malawi, one matrilocal and one patrilocal. Their results show that a gender gap is found only in the patrilocal culture (with women less competitive than men), but no gap in the matrilocal one. Furthermore, women in the matrilocal culture are more competitive than women in the patrilocal culture. Importantly, women in the patrilocal culture increase their willingness to compete at important fertility markers in their lives: adolescence, having a surviving child (older than six), and menopause, displaying less competitive inclinations than male only in post-adolescence without a child. Such changes are not discernible in the matrilocal society. Comparing all age groups and societies, except for the post-adolescent women without a surviving child over the age of 6 in patrilocal societies, all other women are found to be as competitive as or more competitive than men.

In similar vein, Zhang (forthcoming) compares two traditionally similar cultures (the Han and the Yi) differently and exogenously exposed to the communist reforms that began in China in the 1950s. Both the traditional Han Chinese and Yi were patrilineal societies in which women had little economic independence and were mostly confined within the household. The political reforms sent a large number of women into the paid labor force through labor collectivization and legislative reforms, bringing lasting changes around gender norms related to work. For reasons largely independent from cultural attributes, these reforms exposed the Han to exogenously imposed institutional changes in women's role in society, while the Yi were left largely exempted from them. Once the probability of winning, overconfidence, and risk aversion are controlled for, the experimental data show a statistically insignificant gender gap in competitive inclination among the Han Chinese subjects but a 24 percentage points gap among the Yi, with the Yi women less competitively inclined than the women and the men of the Han Chinese. The Yi men are equally competitively inclined as the Han Chinese, suggesting that the reforms did not affect male competitive inclination.

With respect to context, Bjorvatn et al. (2016) compares the willingness to compete among secondary school students between urban and rural Uganda. The authors focus on context because of its importance for development policies. Like in many developing countries, there is ample evidence that also in Uganda gender discrimination is particularly pronounced in the rural areas where the gender gap in literacy rates is higher, females' control over own income is lower, and acceptance of gender-based violence is higher. The results from their lab experiments find no significant gender bias in competitiveness in the urban context, while in the rural context

females compete less than half as much as males. Males, instead, are found to be equally competitive in both contexts. Importantly, such results hold after controlling for differences in knowledge, risk preferences and confidence. The authors speculate that cultural factors are likely to be important determinant of difference in female's willingness to compete, with women in the urban location being more empowered than those in the rural one. These results are consistent with other research that shows that female empowerment promotes competiveness.

Findings like the ones in the previous studies suggest that when women are expected to earn wages and be important source of income, they display competitive inclinations similar to men's. Another interpretation of this result is that women in the classic lab experiment do not display a preference for competition similar to men's because the task or the prize in the experiment does not trigger their sphere of competitiveness. In other words, the reason women do not compete is not because they do not like to compete, but because they feel ambivalent about "winning" in a professional setting due to perceived tradeoffs with child well-being that men do not feel, or feel to a lesser extent, implying that if the prize were made more appealing to women, they would compete more (Hrdy, 1999). To test this hypothesis, Cassar et al. (2016) modifies the standard protocol by introducing a fourth competitive round in which the prize benefits one's child, i.e. they add to the traditional cash incentive a round with an equal-valued voucher for a child benefitting product (a test-preparation bookstore voucher). Their subject pool is comprised by mothers and fathers of middle school children in Shangai, China. Their results show that mothers increase their willingness to compete when the prize benefitted the child (i.e. in the voucher treatment compared to the cash treatment) while fathers reduced their willingness to compete, so that while a significant gender difference existed in the cash treatment, no gender difference was found in the voucher treatment. Relative to fathers, mothers were 10 percentage points more likely to compete in the voucher treatment compared to the cash treatment, a result significant at the 1 percent level. This result is very important because it shows that females are not necessarily less competitive than males, but their preferences are triggered by different incentives than male. The result that women can compete as much as men once we change the experimental reward medium to something more in line with women's goal (here to the benefit of one's children) is consistent with an exciting body of recent interdisciplinary literature (including biologists, anthropologists, psychologists, economists, and sociologists) advancing the hypothesis that women are not endowed with lower competitive traits, rather, they express them in different ways. Policy implications are that a change in the workplace incentive structure could induce more women to enter workplace competitions, in both rich and developing countries.

## 3. Behavioral Design and Women's Economic Empowerment: What Do We Know?

The explicit use of behavioral design to promote women's empowerment in the context of economic development is quite novel, and there is not yet a large body of evidence from which to draw lessons about what sorts of interventions have the greatest impact. However, the relatively small number of field experiments and pilot programs that have been implemented give some idea of what is possible and promising in this new area of gender programming. In the previous section, we identified two key behavioral areas in which systematic differences have been found between men and women in the context of laboratory experiments: risk and competition. In this section, we examine the findings from evaluations of programs that have explicitly addressed gender-specific behavioral constraints, or attempted to take advantage of gender-specific behavioral traits, in three broad categories: (1) cooperation, specifically as it relates to creating and strengthening women's opportunities to mentor and support one another in setting and achieving economic goals; (2) preferences over technologies, expenditures, and investment, and how these relate to control over household income; and (3) attitudes towards risk, with a particular focus on agriculture.

## Networking, Cooperation and Role Modeling

The behavioral dimension with some of the strongest empirical support in terms of program design is cooperative behavior, specifically the way in which women respond to opportunities to learn with and from other women in their communities. Three distinct randomized control trials conducted in different areas of the developing world (Asia, Africa, and Latin America) lend strong support to the proposition that for poor women, female networks that arise out of program design can serve to raise aspirations and induce economic behaviors such as savings, investment, and technology adoption.

The first of these studies (Macours and Vakis 2014) was conducted in rural Nicaragua, in the context of a conditional cash transfer program that had two unique features: one arm of the CCT provided a \$200 grant for productive investment aimed at developing small non-agricultural businesses, and the program also put in place a system of local *promotoras* (female leaders) to enhance information flows and compliance with program requirements. Since both beneficiaries and local leaders were randomly assigned to the productive investment grant group, the researchers were able to identify the causal impacts of social interactions between women who received the grant and the *promotoras* who were also included in the same arm of the program. The principal findings of the impact evaluation were:

- (1) A higher share of women leaders receiving the productive investment package is associated with increases in educational and nutritional outcomes, and with income from non-agricultural activities.
- (2) These social interaction effects are concentrated on beneficiaries who themselves also were eligible for the productive investment package.
- (3) Women in households eligible for the productive package are more likely to express positive attitudes when there are more leaders with the productive investment package in their proximity: they are more optimistic about the future, happier in life and have lower indicators of depression.

- (4) The higher the share of leaders with the productive investment package, the less likely beneficiaries of the productive investment package answered they would not do anything to reduce the impact of future shocks.
- (5) There is also a positive relationship between the post-intervention incomes and attitudes of leaders with the productive investment package and the attitudes of beneficiaries with the productive package.
- (6) The program increased social interactions both among community members generally and between beneficiaries and leaders; this is particularly the case for leaders and beneficiaries of the productive investment package.
- (7) Technical learning and economic spillovers cannot explain the social interaction effects of the program.

Taken together, these findings suggest that, if women are provided with both financial resources and social support (here in the form of examples of positive experiences of nearby female leaders), some of the external and internal barriers to risk-taking may be mitigated. Specifically, if program design can facilitate regular communication between higher achieving women and their less well off neighbors, this may help ease some of the concerns that prevent poor women from investing in (relatively risky) new undertakings.

A study with complementary results on the power of social interactions among women to mitigate risk aversion with respect to new technology adoption was undertaken among women cotton growers in Uganda (Vasilaky and Leonard 2015). Here, a social network intervention (SNI) was randomly offered to subset of female farmers as part of an agricultural extension program. The treatment involved pairing each woman with another randomly selected female cotton farmer whom she did not already know. Each pair received a Polaroid photo of themselves and their partner, identified cultivation issues, chose a collaborative goal, and set potential times when they would meet to exchange information. The impact evaluation found that:

- Cotton farmers in villages that received the SNI experienced large gains compared to the control group for all but the highest performing farmers compared to the cotton farmers in control villages.
- (2) The intervention was successful in creating new links between female cotton growers who, prior to the SNI, did not know one another, but following the intervention, reported sharing cotton-growing information.
- (3) While there is no significant impact on the total network size of women farmers after the SNI treatment, there is a change in the composition of these networks, with treated women reporting higher proportions of other women and "key" cotton growers.
- (4) Knowledge about cotton farming improved among treated women, which accounts for about a quarter of the total gains in yields.
- (5) For a small subsample of women in which yields are observed for both of the paired members at the baseline and endline, being paired with a higher-yielding farmer led to significant increases in yields, whereas being paired with a worse farmer had no impact on yields.

As with the CCT in Nicaragua, it seems that woman-to-woman mentoring—particularly where one of the women is somewhat better off economically and can therefore set an achievable example—facilitated Ugandan women farmers' ability to acquire new crop information and to improve their yields. There are several plausible mechanisms that could explain these effects, including elevating aspirations, increasing confidence, mitigating risk aversion, and technical information sharing.<sup>2</sup>

A third recent study in India also explores the effects of peer support in encouraging women to undertake entrepreneurial activities (Field et al. 2016). In a field experiment conducted as part of a business counseling program for clients of a large women's bank (SEWA), a subsample of participants were invited to bring a friend with them to attend the two-day training, which included instruction in literacy and business skills, as well as financial goal-setting and planning. The results after four months were:

- (1) Women in the Treated with Friend group are 7 percentage points more likely (more than a doubling) to take out a loan relative to women who were in the Treated Alone, who exhibit no change in borrowing. This increase was concentrated in businessspecific loans.
- (2) Women in the Treated With Friend group had higher levels of business spending, were significantly more likely to report concrete actions and moderately more likely to report plans to increase business revenue, and more likely to report a higher volume of sales relative to a typical week in the previous year.
- (3) Relative to those treated alone, Treated With Friend clients show large (12percent and 16percent, respectively) significant increases in both income and expenditures, and are 4 percentage points less likely to report their occupation as housewife.
- (4) The main outcome measure impacts are concentrated among women who face greater restrictions on their mobility as measured by a culturally relevant social restriction index.

These findings suggest that one potentially important factor limiting financial inclusion efforts is inadequate peer support among many of the women who have the potential to start or expand entrepreneurial activities. Thus, programs designed to empower women through business training or by giving them loans or cash grants may be more successful if they harness peer support as part of the program design, particularly when working with clients from restrictive social backgrounds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Positive role models and mentors do not necessarily have to be female. In a study of Ugandan women entrepreneurs, encouragement and support from male relatives and business owners played a large role in determining sectoral choice: women who had male role models in their youth were 32% more likely to "cross over" into more profitable male-dominated sectors, and women running non-traditional businesses were equally likely to have been introduced to their line of work by men as by women (McGorman 2013, Campos et al. 2015).

#### Preferences, Gender Targeting, and Bargaining Power

There is mixed evidence from laboratory experiments on systematic behavioral differences between men and women in the area of other-regarding preferences, including altruism and cooperation. However, in the somewhat narrower realm of spending and consumption preferences, there is a large body of cross-cultural research indicating that women are more likely to allocate income to household public goods, and in particular to invest in their children's nutrition, health and education.<sup>3</sup> Policymakers have responded by implementing gender-based targeting of many income support programs, including conditional cash transfer and microfinance programs. Several recent studies make important contributions to our understanding of the behavioral assumptions underlying gender targeting, and the impact of these programs on women's empowerment.

Miller and Mobarak (2013) utilize an innovative experimental methodology to first elicit rural Bangladeshi women's unconstrained preferences for a household public good (improved cookstoves), and then to see what happens to demand for that good once a positive price is charged and/or husbands are allowed to weigh in on the decision. To distinguish preferences from constraints, the researchers cross the gender of household members to whom they offered improved stoves with the price of the stoves. Specifically, half of the villages were randomly offered two alternative types of free cookstoves (one which reduced smoke pollution and other which used fuel more efficiently). The remaining villages were offered the same stoves at highly subsidized prices. Sample households in both village-level treatments were then randomly assigned to either the "husband choice" or the "wife choice" group denoting whether the male household head or his wife (typically the primary cook) would be offered the stove choice. While the comparison between husbands' and wives' choices in villages where the stoves were offered for free allows for the study of unconstrained gender differences in prioritization of budget-saving and health-improving technologies, the gender differences when stoves are free vs. when small positive prices are charged allows the researchers to uncover the degree to which each gender is able to act on their underlying differences in preferences in the presence of positive prices.

The main results of this experiment are as follows:

- When improved cookstoves are offered for free, women are 6.1 percentage points (6.5percent) more likely than men to order any cookstove, regardless of type.
- (2) Conditional on choosing an improved stove, women are 6.4 percentage points (7.9percent) more likely initially to choose the healthier chimney stoves over the fuelsaving efficiency stoves.
- (3) Among households initially offered a stove, there was an 11.3 percentage point (14.9percent) higher order rate for the healthier chimney stoves when the marketing offer was made to the wife rather than the husband.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Comprehensive reviews of the literature on gender differences in expenditures can be found in Doepke and Tertlit (2011) and Yoong et al. (2012).

- (4) When positive prices are charged, women are more likely to reject the stove offer altogether, and to shift their choices (by 15 percentage points) from more expensive chimney stoves to cheaper efficiency stoves.
- (5) In the free stove condition, women's initial choices were more likely to be un-done by their husbands as information was revealed between first stage offers and second stage deliveries.
- (6) Using an index of female empowerment, households with more empowered women are more likely (by 8 percentage points or 14percent) to order the chimney stove at a positive price, and the probability of husbands overturning their wives' stove orders is decreasing in women's empowerment.

Taken together, these findings suggest that an important non-price impediment to the adoption of new technologies at the household level is the presence of an intra-household externality: male financial decision-makers do not internalize the costs and benefits of new technology that accrue to their wives. Therefore, while women may have stronger preferences for welfareenhancing products and services than men, when individual choices cannot be hidden, public policy may not be able to exploit these stronger preferences absent broader changes in intrahousehold bargaining power. This study lends support to the idea that successful strategies for distributing gender-specific technology will need to simultaneously address both the gender differences in preferences as well as intra-household differences in decision-making power.

Many conditional cash transfer programs address the dual issue of gender differences in preferences and intra-household bargaining power by targeting payments to female household heads, on the assumption that mothers will make better use of the allowances, are in a better position to enforce compliance with the conditionalities, and will be empowered within beneficiary households. Several recent studies in Macedonia (Armand 2014, Almas et al. 2015) and Morocco (Benhassine et al. 2015) explicitly test these assumptions by comparing outcomes when CCT payments are made to fathers instead of mothers. The combined results suggest that while the human capital investment objectives of these programs may be achievable by substituting gender targeting with behavioral design, the women's empowerment goals are best served by providing the income directly to mothers.

In Macedonia, an experiment was designed to test whether gender-targeted transfers during the first three years of a national CCT program would generate differential outcomes in terms of household decision making and human capital investment. The 84 municipalities in the country were randomly assigned to one of two groups. In the first group, payments of the CCT were made to the mother of the child, while in the second group they were made to the male head of household. Therefore, the program provided an exogenous variation in the share of resources controlled by mothers which can be studied to determine whether channeling resources to women has an impact on children's human capital investment and on mothers' bargaining power within the household.

With regard to the human capital objectives of the program, the Macedonian experiment found that targeting CCT payments to mothers had a small and not statistically significant effect on child enrollment in secondary school (Armand 2014). However, when ex-ante parental perceived returns to schooling are sufficiently large, channeling resources to women led to an increase in enrollment and achievement rates. This effect is associated with an increase in individual expenditure shares on education for the children in this group. For children in the higher tercile of the parental perceived returns, individual expenditure shares increased by roughly 4 percent. These findings support the idea that households tend to invest more in children when the payment is transferred to mothers, but only when the perceived returns to schooling are large enough to justify the investment. The results provide unique insight into the interplay between subjective expectations, control over income, and intra-household resource allocation.

Recent research in Morocco further tests the efficacy of gender targeting of CCT payments and the role of parents' subjective valuation of education with respect to human capital investments in children (Benhassine et al. 2015). In this experiment, four different cash transfer modalities were implemented: (1) an unconditional "labeled cash transfer" (LCT) paid out to fathers, which retains an implicit endorsement of education through its school-based enrollment procedure; (2) a transfer to fathers made explicitly conditional on regular school attendance (CCT); (3) the LCT with payments to mothers; and (4) the CCT with payments to mothers. The motivation for the labeling variant is to see if offering a small cash transfer and tying it loosely to the goal of education may be able to make the importance of education salient and increase the demand for it even without formal incentives-a potentially much less administratively costly way to improve poor households' incomes and increase school enrollment and attendance of their children. While the study's emphasis is on labeling versus conditionality, it is noteworthy that the positive impacts on school participation were not significantly different when transfers were paid to fathers instead of mothers. This could be partially attributable to the specific social norms governing intrahousehold resource control in the the Moroccan cultural context, where it is commonly men who handle money and go to weekly markets to make most purchases and sales. However, the finding is also consistent with the results from the more ethnically and religiously diverse population in the Macedonia, suggesting that the gender targeting feature of CCTs may be less important than has been commonly believed to achieving the human capital goals of these programs.

But might gender targeting be important for achieving other objectives? The randomization of the payment recipients in the Macedonian CCT also allows for evaluation the impact of the program on women's empowerment within the household. Almas et al. (2015) carried out an innovative artefactual field experiment with a subset of program-eligible married urban women which elicited wives' willingness to pay to receive transfers themselves versus transfers being paid to their spouses as an indicator of female empowerment. The interpretation is that where women exercise more influence over spending decisions, they should not be willing to pay anything to keep the transfer themselves, and should try to maximize the transfer. On the other hand, the weaker the position of the woman in the household, the more she should be willing to pay to obtain control of that transfer. In municipalities where mothers are the recipient of the CCT (and therefore are potentially more empowered), women are on average willing to pay a

lower amount (5-6 percentage points) to keep the cash from the laboratory experiment, than in municipalities where the CCT recipient is the head of household (and therefore, the level of empowerment of women is potentially smaller). These results support the notion that gender targeting can improve women's decision-making power within households.

#### Gender, Risk, and Agricultural Insurance

The large body of experimental literature on gender differences in attitudes towards risk raises the concern that women may be less inclined to engage in economic activities which offer higher returns but greater variability. This is particularly relevant in agriculture, where risk abounds: weather and climate risk, price fluctuation risk, and the risks associated with new and unfamiliar crops and technologies. Over the past decade, developing countries have been introducing an innovative insurance product to help low-wealth agricultural and pastoralist households manage such risks. The novelty of index-based insurance is that, unlike standard insurance, index insurance contracts are not designed around policyholders' actual losses, but around an exogenous index, such as local rainfall or crop yields, that is supposed to be highly correlated with policyholders' losses. Recognizing that there are significant gender differences both in risk attitudes and exposure to risk, researchers have begun to examine the gender dimensions of demand for and utilization of index-based insurance in Africa and Asia.

Evidence from several recent artefactual field experiments suggests that women in low-wealth agricultural households in developing countries are on average more risk and loss averse than their male counterparts, and that this gender gap is particularly large for the poorest women, and those who are single heads of their households. Among 500 rural couples in Central Vietnam, Fletschner et al. (2010) find that women are between 6 per cent and 13 per cent less likely to choose the gamble choice in a risk elicitation experiment compared to their husbands. In rural Bihar, India, a recent study demonstrates that, on average, women are more averse to risks and potential losses than men (Ward and Singh 2014). But while this holds for women on average, the researchers find that most of the differences in such aggregate comparisons are due to a nontrivial number of women who are extremely risk averse, which skews aggregate statistics on risk aversion. These extremely risk averse women tend to come from poorer households, suggesting that liquidity constraints affect their willingness to put what little they have at risk, as also demonstrated by a corresponding higher degree of loss aversion. A pair of complementary studies among maize farmers in rural Kenya find no significant differences in risk preferences between males and females within the same household, or between men and women in the whole sample (Love et al. 2014; Sheremenko and Magnan 2015). Female household heads, however, are significantly more risk and loss averse than both women and men in male-headed households. The researchers conjecture that since female headed households face greater income and credit constraints, they are more sensitive to potential losses, compared to women in male-headed households who have the security of another source of income in the household.

What are the implications of the gender gap in attitudes towards risk for agricultural technology adoption and farming practices? In a rice growing region of India, where extreme risk aversion is prevalent among women in the poorest income quintiles, a choice experiment which elicited farmers' preferences for drought-tolerance characteristics in hypothetical seed options determined that both more risk averse and more loss averse farmers are more likely to switch to the rice cultivars which perform best under drought stress (Ward and Singh 2014). In one of the Kenyan studies mentioned above (Love et al. 2014), gender-disaggregated risk measures were matched with maize farmers' decisions to use non-hybrid seed, adopt a high yielding hybrid, or adopt a drought and disease-tolerant hybrid. While neither male nor female risk preferences significantly affected the adoption of either category of hybrid in male-headed households, riskloving female household heads were more likely to adopt high-yielding hybrids, and less likely to adopt stress-tolerant hybrids, compared to non-hybrid seeds. In the same rural Kenyan context, women's attitudes towards risk were only relevant to the household's decision to purchase and apply fertilizer when they exhibited relatively high levels of bargaining power, as measured by the Women Empowerment in Agriculture Index (Sheremenko and Magnan 2015). The idea is that if a wife has greater bargaining power, her risk preferences will play a greater role in how the household uses fertilizer on female and jointly controlled plots. If she has weak bargaining power, then her husband acts as a sole decision maker in a household, and his risk preferences alone determine the household's agricultural choices. The study finds that farm households with empowered females who are more risk and loss averse use less fertilizer than households with disempowered females. More risk averse and loss averse female household heads are also less likely to use riskier types of fertilizer.

If women farmers and pastoralists do have different risk tolerance profiles than men, and if this generally greater aversion to risk can affect—at least under certain conditions—their adoption of new technologies and investments in their agricultural production, it is reasonable to expect that women's receptivity to crop or livestock insurance might also be distinct. In particular, it would seem that products such as index-based weather insurance would be appealing to female farmers seeking to mitigate risks to their crops and livestock. However, empirical research into the gendered determinants of demand for index insurance have found a much more nuanced picture with respect to rural women's uptake of these products.

In coastal Bangladesh, where maize is being promoted as a supplementary cash crop for sale into the burgeoning poultry and fish feed industries, Akter el al. (2016) conducted an attributebased choice experiment to investigate farmers' preferences for several different versions of bundled savings and crop insurance products. They found significant insurance aversion among female farmers, irrespective of the attributes of the insurance scheme. Moreover, the gender gap in insurance choices could not be explained by differences in men's and women's risk and time preferences, or agency in making agriculturally related decisions. Rather, gendered differences in farmers' level of trust in insurance institutions, and financial literacy (eg. their ability to understand the trigger levels and compensation mechanisms of the insurance product) were the key factors driving women's lack of demand. A particularly interesting aspect of this study is that approximately one-third of the sub-sample included in a follow-up qualitative stage of the research (27percent of men and 38percent of women) reported having had past experiences with financial fraud. As the authors note, Women who were previous victims of financial fraud were more likely to be skeptical about the credibility of the proposed insurance scheme in delivering payouts than were men, despite similar experience. This finding can be partly explained in light of the theories of the financial economics literature which suggest women tend to feel more regretful than men due to poorly made financial decisions in the past, and thus exhibit more loss aversion behavior when it comes to making future investment decisions (Arora and Kumari 2015).

Bageant and Barrett (2015) likewise estimate gender-disaggregated demand functions for indexbased insurance in the context of Ethiopian pastoralists. While they find no gender differences in overall demand for livestock insurance, their results suggest that women are more influenced by their baseline levels of measured risk aversion, their access to informal sources of insurance (which may serve as alternatives to market-based products) and by the form of marketing. Specifically, high risk aversion increases women's purchase of insurance by 36 per cent compared to an equally risk averse man; informal insurance has a larger negative effect on demand, and women are more responsive to home-based product education than men.

In rural West Africa, identical lab in the field experiments were carried out to test how demand for insurance and for savings varies with gender (Delavallade et al. 2015). In this context, where fertility rates are high and women are both more exposed to physical risk during their childbearing years and are more involved in caring for children than men, women appear less immediately concerned than men about the risks associated with drought and more vulnerable to health-related shocks to themselves and their children. In the experiment, farmers were randomly offered one of four products: weather index insurance and three different savings devices. Controlling for access to informal insurance, area cropped, and types of crops grown, the researchers found much stronger (by 30percent) demand for weather insurance among men than among women, and stronger demand for emergency savings among women. These results are consistent with the idea that those individuals who are more exposed to income risk that is uninsured in a weather contract (basis risk) are less likely to purchase the product. In other words, womens' relatively greater exposure to health- and child-related shocks limits their demand for insurance coverage that is only linked to crop failure. And since the same research found that insurance was more effective than savings at encouraging agricultural investment and enabling significantly higher yields, the results suggest that different patterns of demand for financial products among men and women can result in welfare differences in the long run.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The savings treatment had no measurable impact on agricultural input use, yields, consumption, or managing shocks.

### **Changing Behavior with Empowerment Interventions**

The programs we've discussed thusfar have in some way taken into account different facets of what is known about behavioral differences between men and women, in the realms of cooperation, preferences, and risk, in order to increase the impact of the intervention on economic empowerment outcomes. Here we consider a handful of studies that have looked at the impact of development programs—and in particular programs geared towards women's economic empowerment—on these behavioral parameters themselves.

In rural Ethiopia, a novel social experiment tested the effect of exposure to role models on poor men and women's aspirations and expectations for themselves and their families (Bernard et al. 2014). Male and female research subjects were shown four 15-minute documentaries in which people from similar backgrounds to the audience tell stories about their lives. The individuals featured in the documentary films (half of whom were women) describe how they improved their socio-economic position from being poor or of average socio-economic position in their communities to being relatively successful. Researchers then utilized a specially designed survey instrument to elicit subjects' own desires and goals in a number of areas. The results of such a modest intervention were remarkable:

1. Being invited to a documentary screening session has a positive and significant effect of 0.12 (aspirations) and 0.11 (expectations) straight after the screening, compared to being assigned to the control group—or about 20 per cent of a standard deviation.

2. These effects persist after six months, although they decrease in size: aspirations and expectations among treated group are significantly higher than among the control group by 5 per cent of a standard deviation for expectations and 3 per cent of the standard deviation for aspirations.

3. Results show strong and positive direct effects on aspirations for children's education, and no such effects on income, wealth, or social status aspirations.

4. The aspirations boost from the experiment after the screening is only for those with above median aspirations and those with above median wealth. There is significant depreciation of this effect, and the boost in aspirations after six months remains only for those with above median aspirations to start with. Those with lower initial aspirations to start with are not affected by the screenings.

5. The intervention had positive and statistically significant effects on savings and borrowing behavior, as well as on children's enrolment in school and the amount spent on their schooling.

6. The effects on aspirations are in part mediated through the number of peers also exposed to treatment, and presumably by the discussions one has had with these peers.

A second study that considers the behavioral impacts of a program intervention looks at the effect of BRAC's Empowerment and Livelihood for Adolescents (ELA) program in Uganda on experimentally elicited competitive conduct (Buehren et al. 2016). ELA provides adolescent girls between the ages of 14 and 20 with training on 'hard' vocational skills to help them successfully transition into the labor market, and on 'soft' life skills to enable girls to make informed choices about sex, reproduction and marriage. The program is delivered from development adolescent

clubs, which are open five afternoons per week after school, and are led by a local female mentor. The results of the research, which were somewhat unexpected, were:

1. In contrast with the literature, adolescent girls and boys in Uganda compete at similar levels.

2. The study does not find evidence that the empowerment effects of the program on girls were accompanied by increased competitiveness.

3. In line with previous evidence, having sisters, relative to brothers, is associated with a lower willingness to compete for boys in control communities.

4. This pattern is reversed in treatment communities. There, the study finds that boys surrounded by (empowered) sisters are more willing to engage in competitive behavior.

Programs that seek to empower women by encouraging them to assume leadership positions may also have intended and unintended behavioral consequences. One such program is the Bihar (India) Rural Livelihoods Project (JEEViKA), which establishes women's communitybased self-help groups (SHG) that provide a mechanism for savings and borrowing; the project also includes funding for community investment, technical assistance and innovation (Gangadharan 2014). Researchers were interested in the behavioral response to this kind of program, which has the potential for elite capture of resources by local female leaders. To measure these impacts, they conducted a series of artefactual field experiments eliciting intracommunity levels of trust and willingness to contribute to a public good, where the key treatment in both sets of games was information about the gender of the other player(s). Comparing results across JEEViKA villages and a control group, subjects in treatment communities were on average more trusting, especially among women who were specifically targeted as program beneficiaries (literate women over 18 years old). Survey data also suggest that residents in JEEViKA villages were more likely to support women completing tertiary education and moving away from traditionally female occupations; they also see women as effective political leaders at the village level. However, using a measure of dishonesty taken from the pubic goods experiment as a proxy for elite capture, female leaders in program villages were more deceptive. This suggests that there may exist both behavioral costs and benefits to some women's empowerment programs.

## 4. Conclusions and Recommendations

A copious body of experimental research documents gender differences in some, but not all, areas of behavior relevant to economic decisions and conduct. Evolutionary and social psychology provide compelling theories for the origins of these differences, and persistent cultural norms around gender identity and women's continued primary responsibility for child rearing most likely reinforce their greater aversion to risk and competition, along with higher levels of cooperation and other-regarding preferences. In order for these behavioral insights to better inform development policy, we need to know more about how these experimentally-elicited gender differences vary with real world context. For example, do attitudes towards risk change when the risk is monetary, agricultural, or health-based? Does the gender gap in competitive behavior vary when the prize is financial versus related to children's well-being? And more generally, how do these behaviors differ across societies, cultures, and levels of economic development?

Because behavioral economic insights are still relatively new to many development policymakers, a limited number of programs have explicitly incorporated them into their design. In the three categories of behaviorally-based interventions reviewed here, results have been mixed in terms of impacts on women's economic empowerment. With regard to cooperation and peer mentoring, the evidence thus far suggests that if women are provided with both financial resources and social support (for example, in the form of examples of positive experiences of other women), some of the external and internal barriers to risk-taking may be mitigated. In a variety of social contexts, it appears that woman-to-woman mentoring particularly where one of the women is somewhat better off economically and can therefore set an achievable example—can elevate aspirations, increase confidence, and diminish risk aversion. Building peer support into different kinds of programs—especially those seeking to encourage women to take on new financial or entrepreneurial risks, or to adopt unfamiliar technologies may be particularly valuable for women who face a large number of restrictions on their mobility and opportunities to interact with others in their communities.

Programs that target women within households as the direct beneficiaries of welfare-enhancing technologies or income transfers may conflate two underlying hypotheses: that mothers' objectives and expenditure preferences are more closely aligned with those of her children and family, and that providing women with economic resources in her name will empower her with respect to intra-household resource allocation. Even where transfers are heavily subsidized (as in the case with cookstoves), it appears that women are sometimes unable to exercise their preferences if their husbands wield strong decision-making power. And while several studies now suggest that many of the human capital investment objectives of CCT programs may be achievable without gender targeting of payments, women's intra-household empowerment goals are most likely best served by providing the income directly to mothers.

Finally, with regard to agricultural insurance programs that have the potential to help rural women manage risk, it appears that more needs to be done to address gender-specific barriers to the uptake of these products. In particular, there is scope for learning more about women's lack of trust in financial institutions, low levels of financial literacy, and the relative weight they place on the kinds of environmental risk that crop and livestock insurance typically cover relative to other kinds of risks, such as those related to the health of themselves and their children.

Going forward, there is a promising research agenda to increase our knowledge of variations in gender differences in behavior across cultures, societies and levels of development. Replicating both laboratory and fieldwork-based experiments in a multitude of settings could help us learn more about the specific contexts in which women and men have distinct responses to risk, competition, cooperation, and a range of other important behaviors relevant to economic activities. In addition, modifications of existing protocols could help us go beyond generalization about gender differences in these fundamental behaviors, and learn about which kinds of incentives and program design principles would be most beneficial to women. Building the systematic measurement of gender-disaggregated behavioral preferences as part of program evaluation is another exciting area for future research.

With regard to program design, the clearest recommendation coming out of this review is to build on successful experiences of fostering woman-to-woman peer support and mentoring by building this feature into many different kinds of programs. Specifically, if program design can facilitate regular communication between higher achieving women and their less well-off peers, this may help ease some of the concerns that prevent poor women from investing in (relatively risky) new undertakings. A second recommendation, emerging from the research on genderspecific preferences and intra-household bargaining, is that the gender targeting of income transfer programs be maintained to help achieve women's empowerment objectives, even if human capital investment goals are not necessarily improved by making payments to mothers versus fathers. Finally, with respect to risk-mitigation programs such as index insurance, a promising approach worthy of piloting in several different contexts is to bundle the agricultural or livestock insurance product with financial education and instruments to help women address their other areas of concern and responsibility, such as saving for health emergencies.

## References

- Akter, Sonia, Timothy J. Krupnikc, Frederick Rossic, and Fahmida Khanamb (2016). The influence of gender and product design on farmers' preferences for weather-indexed crop insurance. *Global Environmental Change* 38: 217–229.
- Almås, Ingvild, Alex Armand, Orazio Attanasio, and Pedro Carneiro (2015). Measuring and Changing Control: Women's Empowerment and Targeted Transfers. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 21717.
- Altonji, J.; Blank, R. (1999). Race and Gender in the Labor Market. In *Handbook of Labor Economics*; Ashenfelter, O., Card , D., Eds.; Elsevier-North Holland: Amsterdam; Vol. 3C, pp. 3143-3259.
- Armand, Alex (2014). Who wears the trousers in the family? Intra-household resource control, subjective expectations and human capital investment. University College London.
- Arora, M., and S. Kumari (2015). Risk taking in financial decisions as a function of age: gender: mediating role of loss aversion and regret. *International Journal of Applied Psychology* 5 (4): 83– 89.
- Bageant, Elizabeth R. and Christopher B. Barrett (2015). Gender Differences in Demand for Index-Based Livestock Insurance. Cornell University.
- Bateup, H.; Booth, A.; Shirtcliff, E.; Granger, D. (2002). Testosterone, Cortisol, and Women's Competition. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 23 (3), 181-192.
- Benhassine, Najy, Florencia Devoto, Esther Duflo, Pascaline Dupas, and Victor Pouliquen (2015). Turning a Shove into a Nudge? A "Labeled Cash Transfer" for Education. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 7(3): 86–125.
- Bernard, T., S. Dercon, K. Orkin, and A.S. Taffesse (2014). The Future in Mind: Aspirations and Forward-Looking Behaviour in Rural Ethiopia. Working paper, Centrefor the Study of African Economies, University of Oxford.
- Bjorvatn, K., Falch, R. and Hernæs, U. (2016). Gender, context and competition: Experimental evidence from rural and urban Uganda. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 61: 31–37.
- Bohnet, Iris (2016). What Works: Gender Equality by Design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bönte, W. (2015). Gender differences in competitive preferences: new cross-country empirical evidence. *Applied Economics Letters*, 22(1): 71–75
- Booth, A.; Nolen, P. (2012). Choosing to Compete: How Different are Girls and Boys? Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 81 (2), 542-555.
- Boucher, S., Carter, M.R. and Guirkinger, C. (2008) Risk rationing and wealth effects in credit markets: theory and implication for agricultural development. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 90(2), pp. 409–423.
- Browne, Kingsley R. (2006). Evolved sex differences and occupational segregation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 27: 143–162.
- Buehren, Niklas, Markus Goldstein, Kenneth Leonard, Joao Montalvao, and Kathryn Vasilaky (2016). Women's Empowerment, Sibling Rivalry, and Competitiveness: Evidence from a Lab Experiment and a Randomized Control Trial in Uganda. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7699.
- Byrnes, J., D. Miller and W. Schafer (1999). "Gender Differences in Risk Taking: A Meta-Analysis," *Psychological Bulletin* 125(3): 367-383.
- Campbell, A. (1999). Staying alive: Evolution, culture and women's intra-sexual aggression. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 22(2): 203-252.

- Campbell, A. (2002). A Mind of her Own: The Evolutionary Psychology of Women. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Campos, Francisco, Markus Goldstein, Laura McGorman, Ana Maria Munoz Boudet, and Obert Pimhidzai (2015). Breaking the Metal Ceiling: Female Entrepreneurs Who Succeed in Male-Dominated Sectors. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7503.
- Cárdenas, J.C., Dreber, A., von Essen, E. and Ranehill, E. (2012). 'Gender differences in competitiveness and risk taking: comparing children in Columbia and Sweden'. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, vol. 83(1), pp. 11–23.
- Cassar, A., Feven, W., and Zhang, Y. J. (2016). "Competing for the benefit of offspring eliminates the gender gap in competitiveness." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113, no. 19 (2016): 5201-5205.
- Charness, G. and Gneezy, U. (2011). Strong Evidence for Gender Differences in Risk Taking. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 83 (2012) 50–58.
- Croson, Rachel; Gneezy, Uri (2009). Gender Differences in Preferences. *Journal of Economic Literature* 47(2): 448-474.
- Delavallade, Clara, Felipe Dizon, Ruth Vargas Hill, and Jean Paul Petraud (2015). Managing Risk with Insurance and Savings: Experimental Evidence for Male and Female Farm Managers in West Africa. IFPRI Discussion Paper 01426.
- Dercon, S. (2006) Risk, growth, and poverty: what do we know? What do we need to know? QEH Working Paper Series.
- Diwan F, Makana G, McKenzie D, Paruzzolo S (2014). Invitation Choice Structure Has No Impact on Attendance in a Female Business Training Program in Kenya. PLoS ONE 9(10): e109873. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109873.
- Doepke, Matthias and Michèle Tertilt (2011). Does Female Empowerment Promote Economic Development? IZA Discussion Paper No. 5637.
- Duflo, E. (2012). Women Empowerment and Economic Development. Journal of Economic Literature, 50(4), 1051–1079.
- Eckel, Catherine C., and Philip J. Grossman (2008a). "Differences in the Economic Decisions of Men and Women: Experimental Evidence." In *Handbook of Experimental Economics Results*, Volume 1, ed. Charles Plott and Vernon Smith, 509–19. New York: Elsevier.
- Eckel, Catherine C., and Philip J. Grossman (2008b). "Forecasting Risk Attitudes: An Experimental Study Using Actual and Forecast Gamble Choices." *Journal of Economic Behavior* and Organization, 68(1): 1–17.
- Ergun, Selim Jürgen, Teresa García-Muñoz, and María Fernanda Rivas (2012). Gender Differences in Economic Experiments. *Revista Internacional de Sociología*, Special Issue on Behavioral and Experimental Economics, Vol. 70, Extra 1, 99-111.
- Field, Eric, Seema Jayachandran, Rohini Pande, and Natalia Rigol (2016). Friendship at Work: Can Peer Effects Catalyze Female Entrepreneurship? *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 8(2): 125–153.
- Fletschner, Diana, C. Leigh Anderson & Alison Cullen (2010) Are Women as Likely to Take Risks and Compete? Behavioural Findings from Central Vietnam, *Journal of Development Studies*, 46:8, 1459-1479.
- Flory, J., Kenneth L., Magda T. and Kathryn V. (2016). "Towards a Deeper Understanding of Female Competitiveness and the Gender Gap: Evidence from Patrilocal and Matrilocal Cultures." Manuscript.
- Flory, J.; Gneezy, U.; Leonard, K.; List, J. (2012). Sex, Competitiveness, and Investment in Offspring: On the Origin of Preferences; Manuscript.

- Gangadharan, Lata, Tarun Jain, Pushkar Maitra, and Joseph Vecci (2014). The behavioral response to women's empowerment programs: Experimental evidence from JEEViKA in Bihar. International Growth Centre.
- Gneezy, U.; Leonard, K.; List, J. (2009). Gender Differences in Competition: Evidence from a Matrilineal and a Patriarchal Society. *Econometrica*, 77 (5), 1637-1664.
- Gneezy, Uri, Niederle, Muriel, & Rustichini, Aldo (2003). Performance in Competitive Environments: Gender Differences. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 118(3), 1049–1074.
- Goldin, Claudia, & Rouse, Cecila (2000). Orchestrating Impartiality: The Impact of "Blind" Auditions on Female Musicians. *The American Economic Review*, 90, 715–741.
- Gong, B. and Yang, C. L. (2012). 'Gender differences in risk attitudes: field experiments on the matrilineal Mosuo and the patriarchal Yi'. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, vol. 83(1), pp. 59–65.
- Healy, Andrew, & Pate, Jennifer (2011). Can Teams Help to Close the Gender Competition Gap? *The Economic Journal*, 121, 1192–1204.
- Holt, Charles A., and Susan K. Laury (2002). "Risk Aversion and Incentive Effects." *American Economic Review*, 92(5): 1644–55.
- Hrdy, Sarah (1981). The Woman that Never Evolved. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Hrdy, Sarah (1999). Mother Nature: A history of mothers, infants and Natural Selection. New York: Pantheon.
- Janzen, Sarah A., Nicholas Magnan, Sudhindra Sharma, and William M. Thompson (2016). Social Drivers of Aspirations Formation and Failure in Rural Nepal. Working Paper, University of Montana.
- Liu, E. (2008) Time to Change What to Sow: Risk Preferences and Technology Adoption Decisions of Cotton Farmers in China (Princeton: Department of Economics, Princeton University).
- Love, Abby, Nicholas Magnan, and Gregory J. Colson (2014). Male and Female Risk Preferences and Maize Technology Adoption in Kenya. Selected Paper prepared for presentation at the Agricultural & Applied Economics Association's 2014 AAEA Annual Meeting, Minneapolis, MN.
- Macours, Karen and Renos Vakis (2014). Changing Households' Investment Behaviour through Social Interactions with Local Leaders: Evidence from a Randomised Transfer Programme. *The Economic Journal*, 124: 607–633.
- McGorman, Laura (2013). Crossing Over to a Male-Dominated Sector: The Effects of Exposure, Role Models, and Information on Ugandan Female Entrepreneurs' Industry Choices. MPA/ID Harvard Kennedy School of Government thesis.
- Miller, Grant and A. Mushfiq Mobarak (2013). Gender Differences in Preferences, Intra-Household Externalities, and Low Demand for Improved Cookstoves. NBER Working Paper 18964.
- Niederle, M. and Vesterlund, L. (2007). Do women shy away from competition? Do men compete too much? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 122, 1067-1101.
- Niederle, M. and Vesterlund, L. (2011). Gender and Competition. *Annual Review of Economics*, 3, 601-630.
- Niederle, M., Segal, C. & Vesterlund, L. (2013). "How Costly Is Diversity? Affirmative Action in Light of Gender Differences in Competitiveness," *Management Science, INFORMS*, vol. 59(1), pages 1-16
- Niederle, Muriel. Forthcoming. "Gender." In Handbook of Experimental Economics, second edition, Eds. John Kagel and Alvin E. Roth.

- Pondorfer, A., Omar Mahmoud, T., Rehdanz, K. & Schmidt, U (2014). Gender differences in risk preferences and stereotypes: Experimental evidence from a matrilineal and a patrilineal society. Kiel Working Paper No. 1957
- Sandvik, L. (2011)."Gender Differences in Risk Aversion: An Experimental Study from Peru." University of Oslo Master Thesis.
- Sheremenko, Ganna and Nicholas Magnan (2015). Gender-specific Risk Preferences and Fertilizer Use in Kenyan Farming Households. Selected Paper prepared for presentation at the 2015 Agricultural & Applied Economics Association and Western Agricultural Economics Association Annual Meeting, San Francisco, CA.
- Shurchkov, O. (2012). Under pressure: gender differences in output quality and quantity under competition and time constraints. *Journal of the European Economic Association* 10(5): 1189-1213.
- Vasilaky, Kathryn and Kenneth L. Leonard (2015). "As Good as the Networks They Keep? Improving Farmers' Social Networks via Randomized Information Exchange in Rural Uganda."
- Ward, Patrick S. and Vartika Singh (2014). Risk and Ambiguity Preferences and the Adoption of New Agricultural Technologies: Evidence from Field Experiments in Rural India. IFPRI Discussion Paper 01324.
- Wood, Wendy and Alice H. Eagly (2012). "Biosocial Construction of Sex Differences and Similarities in Behavior." In James M. Olson and Mark P. Zanna, editors, Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Vol. 46, Burlington: Academic Press, pp. 55-123.
- Wozniak, D.; Harbaugh, W.; Mayr, U. (2014). The Menstrual Cycle and Performance Feedback Alter Gender Differences in Competitive Choices. Journal of Labor Economics.
- Yoong, J., Rabinovich, L. and Diepeveen, S. (2012) The Impact of Economic Resource Transfers to Women versus Men: A systematic review. London: Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Co-ordinating Centre, University of London.
- Zhang, Y.J. Forthcoming. Culture, Institutions, and the Gender Gap in Competitive Inclination: Evidence from the Communist Experiment in China. Manuscript.